Evidence and Evaluation Guidance Series Population and Public Health Division

Increasing the scale of population health interventions:

A Guide





CENTRE FOR EPIDEMIOLOGY AND EVIDENCE

NSW Ministry of Health Locked Mail Bag 961

Copyright © NSW Ministry of Health 2014

This work is copyright. It may be reproduced in whole or in part for study and training purposes subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgement of the source. It may not be reproduced for commercial usage or sale. Reproduction for purposes other than those indicated above requires written permission from the NSW Ministry of Health.

SHPN (CEE) 140158 ISBN 978-1-74187-008-4

Suggested citation

Centre for Epidemiology and Evidence. Milat AJ, Newson R, and King L. *Increasing the scale of population health interventions: A guide*. Evidence and Evaluation Guidance Series, Population and Public Health Division. Sydney: NSW Ministry of Health. 2014.

Further copies of this document can be downloaded from the NSW Health website **www.health.nsw.gov.au**

Contents

Key definitions	2
Introduction	3
How to use this guide	4
STEP 1. SCALABILITY ASSESSMENT	5
1.1 Assess effectiveness	5
1.2 Assess potential reach and adoption	6
1.3 Assess alignment with the strategic context	7
1.4 Assess acceptability and feasibility	7
STEP 2. DEVELOP A SCALING UP PLAN	8
2.1 Document a rationale for scaling up	8
2.2 Describe the intervention	8
2.3 Complete a situational and stakeholder analysis	9
2.4 Determine who could be involved in scale up and what their role will	be 10
2.5 Select an approach to scaling up	11
2.6 Consider options for evaluation and monitoring	12
2.7 Estimate resources required for scale up	13
2.8 Write up the plan	13
STEP 3. PREPARE FOR SCALING UP	14
3.1 Consult with stakeholders	14
3.2 Legitimise change	14
3.3 Build a broad constituency	15
3.4 Realign and mobilise resources	16
STEP 4. SCALE UP THE INTERVENTION	17
4.1 Modify and strengthen organisations	17
4.2 Coordinate action and governance	17
4.3 Monitor performance, quality and efficiency	18
4.4 Ensure sustainability	19
Conclusion	19
References	20

Key definitions

Acceptability: refers to the degree of support for the intervention among stakeholders.

Adaptability: refers to the degree to which the intervention can be changed while still maintaining effectiveness.

Adaptation: the adjustment of an intervention for different target populations, localities and organisational factors.¹

Adoption: is the proportion of intended intermediary target settings, practices or organisations (examples may include schools and workplaces) that adopt an intervention before proceeding to implementation with the intended target group.²

Comparability: refers to how consistent the context in which the original intervention was implemented is with that of the new environment or setting.³

Compatibility: refers to how well the intervention fits with the systems, services and practices of the new environment or setting.⁴

Cost-effectiveness: refers to the benefit or outcome received relative to the cost.

Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA): provides ratios that show the cost (in monetary terms) of achieving one unit of health outcome.⁵ CEA allows interventions or variants of an intervention approach to be ranked according to their (incremental) cost-effectiveness ratios.⁶

Differential effectiveness: occurs where a difference in effectiveness is found across target groups or socio-economic status.⁷

Dose: refers to the amount of intervention or service received by a participant or member of the target group.

Effect size: is a measure of the strength of effect. It can be used to extrapolate the effect of an intervention to larger groups or populations.

Efficacy and effectiveness: Efficacy is how well something works in an ideal or controlled setting, such as a clinical trial. Effectiveness describes how well it works under conditions that better represent the 'real world'.

Fidelity: refers to the extent to which the implementation of the intervention is consistent with intervention protocols previously found to be effective.⁸

Marginal costs: The marginal cost is the increase or decrease in the total cost of the intervention as the intervention is implemented on increasing scale. Marginal costs can be calculated once the fixed costs of implementation have already been absorbed and only the direct (variable) costs have to be accounted for.^{7,9,10} When the average costs of program delivery fall as output rises, costs are said to exhibit economies of scale.¹¹ Conversely, when the marginal costs of program delivery are higher than the average cost, costs exhibit diseconomies of scale.

Population health intervention: A population health intervention is a set of actions with a coherent objective to bring about change or produce identifiable outcomes for a whole population or population segment. These actions may include policy, regulatory initiatives, single strategy projects or multi-component programs intended to promote or protect health or prevent ill health in communities or populations.¹²

Reach: refers to the level of contact with or individual participation of an intended target population in an intervention.²

Scalability: refers to the ability of a health intervention shown to be efficacious on a small scale and/or under controlled conditions to be expanded under real world conditions to reach a greater proportion of the eligible population, while retaining effectiveness.⁷

Scaling up: refers to deliberate efforts to increase the impact of successfully tested health interventions so as to benefit more people and to foster policy and program development on a lasting basis.⁴

Stakeholder: an individual or an organisation that can affect, will be affected by, or may have an interest in scaling up the intervention.

Strategic context: refers to the social, organisational and political setting in which the intervention is implemented. 12

Introduction

In order to achieve population-wide health improvements, population health interventions found to be effective in a research setting need to be implemented as widely as possible. This involves a change of scale or a scaling up of the intervention.⁷ Scaling up such interventions is necessary to ensure the target population has access to the most effective services and programs available.

However, not all interventions shown to be effective in a research setting are suitable for scaling up. The *scalability* of an intervention is not only determined by its effectiveness but other key issues such as the likely reach and adoption of the intervention, the costs of operating at scale, and the acceptability and fit of the intervention with the local context. ¹³ It is important that attention is paid to the scalability of an intervention, so resources are allocated to interventions that are more likely to be successfully scaled up, and therefore more likely to have an impact on the health of the population as a whole.

Scaling up is also more likely to be successful if a systematic approach to scaling up is adopted from the outset.⁴ Such an approach is required to help policy makers and practitioners address the substantial challenges faced when interventions are scaled up.4 For example, the same human, technical and financial resources available in the research setting in which the original intervention was tested may not be available when the intervention is scaled up.4 The intervention will need to be implemented in the 'real world' where few existing support systems may be in place and other pressing priorities and competing interests need to be considered.^{7,14} In addition, the context in which the intervention is scaled up is likely to be highly political, rapidly changing, and influenced by a variety of factors, inputs and relationships. 13 Under such circumstances, successful scaling up calls for careful balancing between achieving desired outcomes and implementation constraints.4 It also requires an implementation process that uses and engages existing health system capacities, wherever possible, rather than imposing additional requirements and burdens on the system. 14 Finally, the process of scaling up requires ongoing monitoring and the flexibility to adjust to changes in the political, social or organisational context.7

Scaling up refers to deliberate efforts to increase the impact of successfully tested health interventions to benefit more people and foster policy and program development on a lasting basis.⁴

Scalability refers to the ability of a health intervention shown to be efficacious on a small scale and/or under controlled conditions to be expanded under real world conditions to reach a greater proportion of the eligible population while retaining effectiveness.⁷

However, at the current time, few policy makers and practitioners have skills in and knowledge of scaling up methods.⁴ Further, there are relatively few examples in the published literature where the steps and considerations involved in scaling up an intervention are described.^{4,15,16} As a consequence, population health interventions found to be effective in a research setting remain under-utilised by the field of population health.

This guide seeks to address these issues by describing a step-by-step process that includes both an assessment of the scalability of an intervention and a description of how to proceed with scaling up in order to have the greatest chance of success.

How to use this guide

The guide describes a 4-step process for scaling up interventions. Step 1 is to complete a scalability assessment to assess the suitability of the intervention or interventions for scaling up. The outcome of this assessment will determine whether the remaining steps in the guide should be followed. Step 2 describes how to develop a scaling up plan which should create a vision of what scaling up will look like and a compelling case for action. Step 3 describes how to prepare for scaling up by securing resources and building a foundation of legitimacy and support for the scaling up plan. Finally, Step 4 describes some of the main tasks that should be addressed during scaling up.

The guide is written in a linear way, as if the user is starting from the point of assessing the scalability of an intervention. However, the entry point for each user may vary. For example, the latter steps in the guide could be used by those already involved in scaling up interventions to reflect on and review their current implementation processes. It may also be necessary for all users to revisit earlier steps in the process to find solutions to problems that arise during scaling up. At each step in the process the project team will be required to make decisions that are not always clear cut; some judgement on the part of the project team is required. These decisions may result in revisions to the scaling up process and changes in direction over time. It may also be necessary to discontinue the scaling up process if a way forward cannot be found, or desired outcomes are not being achieved. If such a decision is made, an exit strategy should be implemented that includes management of likely risks for all key stakeholders. Ultimately, scaling up is a significant process that requires time and resources to ensure that it is managed successfully.

The guide has grown out of experience in the field of population health and as such is written from a population health perspective; however, the core concepts within the guide could be applied to other human service endeavours. It is designed to be used by health practitioners, policy makers, and others with responsibility for scaling up evidence-based population health interventions. It has been written primarily for use within the public sector in high resource environments but could also be used by non-government organisations tasked with such processes.

The guide may also be useful to researchers. For example, the scalability assessment may assist researchers to design research studies that are potentially suitable for scaling up, particularly in circumstances where research-practice collaborations are encouraged. Step 1 could also be used to identify research gaps, and guide researchers towards seeking funding to

address such scalability information gaps. Similarly, this guide may be used to assist researchers to present intervention research findings, so the information necessary for health practitioners and policy makers to assess the scalability of an intervention is available. In addition, the later stages of the guide can be used by researchers to identify opportunities for partnering in evaluation and monitoring efforts when interventions are scaled up.

FIGURE 1. Steps in the scaling up process



STEP 1. SCALABILITY ASSESSMENT

The aim of Step 1 is to determine if the intervention is scalable. In doing so, the user should consider a variety of information sources, including published research, grey literature, expert advice, and practice-based knowledge. It may not be possible or relevant for the user to answer all of the questions posed as part of this step. If information is missing, a judgement is required about whether these gaps are relevant, or whether they would have little impact on the overall scalability assessment, whether the gaps can be addressed during implementation, or whether further research is required before scaling up the intervention can be recommended.

This step can be used to gather information about the scalability of a particular intervention. It can also be used to compare and contrast a number of different interventions being considered as part of a planning process. Alternately, it could be used as a tool to identify gaps in knowledge around the scalability of an intervention which could then be used to build a case for further research to address these gaps.

1.1 Assess effectiveness

The key prerequisite for scaling up a population health intervention is that it is effective.^{4,7,16} Ideally, evidence of effectiveness should be provided from randomised controlled research trials (RCTs); however, it is increasingly acknowledged that evidence of effectiveness for population health interventions can be derived from a broader range of research designs including stepped wedge, multiple baseline, and quasi-experimental designs.¹⁷ The type and amount of evidence available about the effectiveness of the intervention should be noted in the decision making process—the less uncertainty about the results the better.

It is also important to consider whether the *effect size* of the original intervention is known and whether this is likely to be of policy significance. The policy significance of the intervention is critical in determining the likely benefits of scaling up the intervention for the population (for example, reduced mortality and morbidity) and also the likely benefits of scaling up the intervention to the funder (for example, reduced costs or greater efficiency).

It should be noted that the **effectiveness of interventions** may attenuate as they are scaled up; therefore, relatively large effect sizes should be demonstrated in the efficacy stage, if an acceptable level of effect is to be maintained when interventions are scaled up.7 This reduction in effect size is due, in part, to difficulties maintaining the dose and fidelity of the original intervention in real world settings, and the selected nature of participants or communities involved in research studies. It is rare for interventions to remain unchanged as they are scaled up due to the need to adapt interventions to suit the local context.^{7,16} Cost can also be a major factor that drives the need for adaptation. Therefore, the adaptability of the intervention should form part of the scalability assessment. To make this assessment, it is important that the key elements of the intervention are understood, including which components are essential in order to maintain effectiveness.

For example, a recent meta-analysis of RCTs concluded that lifestyle-based diabetes prevention programs were effective in reducing progression to type 2 diabetes. ¹⁸ However, subsequent less intensive, 'real-world' intervention replication trials targeting different populations yielded much smaller effect sizes for key diabetes prevention related outcome variables. ^{19,20}

The scalability assessment should also determine whether a differential effectiveness across target groups and/or socio-economic status (SES) has been shown.⁷ This is important, as interventions can be highly effective among target groups that need them least (for example, high SES populations with low risk profiles) and ineffective in those that need them most (for example, low SES populations with high risk profiles).

The final part of the effectiveness assessment is an examination of any unintended consequences and adverse outcomes. Interventions should aim to minimise such adverse outcomes before being scaled up and, in extreme instances, may be abandoned altogether if the outcomes are too adverse.⁷

Key questions:

- Is the intervention effective and how strong is the evidence?
- What is the effect size of the original intervention? Is the effect size of the intervention likely to be of policy significance?
- Are the benefits of the intervention likely to outweigh the costs?
- Can the same dosage, fidelity and effect of the original intervention be maintained in the real world within acceptable costs?
- How adaptable is the intervention? Is it likely that the key elements of the original intervention necessary to maintain effectiveness can be retained when it is scaled up?
- Is the intervention likely to have differential effectiveness across target groups and/or socio-economic status?
- Is the intervention likely to have unintended consequences or adverse outcomes?

1.2 Assess potential reach and adoption

Reach refers to the level of contact with or individual participation of an intended target population in an intervention,² while adoption is the proportion of intended intermediary target settings, practices or organisations (examples may include schools and workplaces) that adopt an intervention,² before proceeding to implementation with the intended target group. Both reach and adoption are at the heart of scalability.7 Some interventions by their very nature and intended target audience can reach a greater proportion of the population, while others may be specifically designed to target relatively small segments of the population. What is important is that interventions reach as large a proportion of those eligible to receive them as possible when they are scaled up. Similarly, it is important that interventions are adopted by as large a proportion of eligible settings as possible. In addition, it is important to determine whether an intervention has differential rates of reach and adoption across target populations and/or settings.

- What is the likely reach of the intervention per eligible population when scaled up?
- What is the likely adoption rate by intermediary settings and organisations?
- Is the likely reach and adoption of the intervention extensive enough to have a population impact?
- Is the intervention likely to have differential rates of reach and adoption?

1.3 Assess alignment with the strategic context

For interventions to have the best chance of being scaled up, it is important they are aligned with policy priorities.^{4,21–23} Even highly effective interventions may struggle to attain funding for expansion if they do not address a pressing and persistent problem or if they are not aligned with the priority areas of funding agencies.^{7,16}

It is also important that the context within which the original intervention was implemented is *comparable* to that of the new environment or setting, particularly if contextual factors (for example, literacy, income, cultural values, access to media and services, skill and experience of the workforce) were important to the success of the original intervention.^{3,12}

Also important is the alignment of the intervention with the broader *strategic context* of the new environment or setting. ^{16,21} That is, the social, organisational and political context in which the intervention will be implemented. ¹² In addition, the intervention should be *compatible* with roles, other practices and interventions in the new setting. ⁷ A potential intervention should complement existing interventions and if it is similar to existing interventions there must be evidence that it is superior to current practice before it is considered for scaling up. ¹⁶

Key questions:

- Is the intervention consistent with national, state or regional policy directions?
- Will the intervention address an identified need of funding agencies?
- Is the context within which the original intervention was implemented comparable to that of the new environment or setting in which the intervention will be scaled up?
- How well will the intervention align with the broader strategic context within which it will be scaled up?
- Is the intervention compatible with similar interventions in the same setting?
- Is the intervention superior to current practice?

1.4 Assess acceptability and feasibility

An important consideration for scalability is a broad assessment of the 'do-ability' of the intervention. A judgement is required about whether it is conceivable that the intervention could be scaled up given what is known about its costs, workforce requirements, infrastructure requirements and acceptability to stakeholders. Another factor to consider is how long the intervention is likely to take to implement and how this relates to the type and length of funding that might be available. Whether the intervention is acceptable to stakeholders may be determined by assessing how acceptable the original intervention was to the stakeholders involved at the time (if the stakeholders will be similar to those that will be involved when the intervention is scaled up) or by conducting a preliminary or informal consultation process with key stakeholders likely to be involved in scaling up the intervention.

- What organisational, technical, human and financial resources were required to deliver the original effective intervention?
- How ready is the current system to accommodate these requirements at scale?
- Is the intervention likely to be acceptable to target groups and other stakeholders when scaled up?
- Are the potential costs of the intervention at scale likely to fit within the budget that may be available?

STEP 2. DEVELOP A SCALING UP PLAN

The aim of Step 2 is to develop a practical and workable scaling up plan that can be used to convince stakeholders there is a compelling case for action.

2.1 Document a rationale for scaling up

The rationale for scaling up the intervention should be drawn from the information gathered in Step 1, although further investigation and analysis may be necessary to document a comprehensive case for action.

Key questions:

- Has the information gathered during Step 1 been systematically documented?
- What gaps are there? Is there parallel evidence e.g. related to similar interventions that can be used as part of the documentation?
- Is any further consultation or research required?

2.2 Describe the intervention

This is a detailed description of 'what' will be scaled up. The description should be drawn from the available information about the key characteristics and components of success of the original intervention. This information may come from a single study or may be drawn from multiple studies of similar interventions (for example, studies included in a systematic review). While the elements of the intervention that are essential to maintain its effectiveness must be retained, where possible the original intervention should be simplified and streamlined. It is usually necessary to adapt the original intervention to suit the context within which it will now be implemented. However, any changes to the intervention that may impact on its effectiveness should be carefully considered. Simplifying the original intervention also assists in clearly communicating the objectives and elements of the intervention to stakeholders.

- Have the objectives of the intervention been clearly described?
- Have the target group(s) of the intervention been clearly described?
- Have the key elements of the intervention been described in as simple a manner as possible?
- Have the elements of the intervention essential to maintain its effectiveness been retained?

2.3 Complete a situational and stakeholder analysis

This step involves examining the political and environmental context to determine what conditions, organisations, groups or individuals are likely to affect the prospects of scaling up the intervention.⁴ It should draw on the information gathered as part of Steps 1.3 and 1.4 but requires a more comprehensive analysis of these issues, including an analysis of who the key *stakeholders* involved in scale up may be and their readiness and support for scaling up the *intervention*.

Key questions:

- Has the social, political and organisational environment in which the intervention will be scaled up been mapped?
- Have key stakeholders and where they fit within the social, political and organisational environment been identified?
- Have the key value positions of each stakeholder (interest, importance, influence) been determined?
- Have potential advocates and champions been identified?
- Have the organisations, organisational units or individuals responsible for key decisions regarding funding and implementation of scaling up been identified?

For example, a situational and stakeholder analysis was completed as part of the development of the Get Healthy Information and Coaching Service, a free telephone-based physical activity, nutrition and healthy weight coaching service offered by the New South Wales Government. This analysis acknowledged that the New South Wales Government had provided in-principle support to a telephone and web-based lifestyle intervention through the Australian Better Health Initiative. It also involved mapping the availability and accessibility of public and private telephone and web-based lifestyle interventions in the NSW market, as well as identifying likely stakeholders with an interest in such a service.24

2.4 Determine who could be involved in scale up and what their role will be

Generally there are two main roles that agencies may play in scaling up an intervention, that of the *originating* organisation(s) and delivery organisation(s).16 An originating organisation is responsible for commissioning and/or developing the scaling up plan and may also have high level oversight of its implementation. The delivery organisation takes up direct implementation of the plan. Delivery organisations may be newly created for the purpose of scaling up or they may already exist. In some instances, an agency can be both the originating organisation and the delivery organisation. Where a single agency with the capacity to implement the scaling up plan does not exist it may be necessary for the role of delivery agency to be shared by more than one agency. Alternately, or in addition to this, intermediary agencies may be engaged by either the originating organisation or delivery organisation to provide specific functions during scale up: for example, to evaluate the intervention, monitor quality standards, conduct workforce training, or deliver the intervention directly to the target group. Establishing effective partnerships to facilitate collaboration and coordination between all agencies involved is critical. To determine who might be involved in scaling up the intervention, and what their role may be, it can be helpful to map key tasks or functions required for scale up and then consider who might be best suited to provide these functions.

- Have the tasks and functions necessary for scaling up the intervention been determined?
- Has the role the originating organisation will play in scaling up the intervention been defined?
- Have potential delivery organisations with appropriate organisational and implementation capacity, or the means to develop that capacity, been identified and matched with key functions? Is it likely that more than one delivery organisation will be required?
- Has the compatibility of the central mission, organisational culture, and values of the proposed delivery organisation(s) with the intervention—and the plan to scale it up—been assessed?
- Will it be necessary to engage intermediary agencies to complete specific tasks or functions? Which agencies may be suitable?
- Have partnerships that will need to be established or strengthened been identified? What mechanisms could be used to facilitate collaboration and coordination between those involved?

2.5 Select an approach to scaling up

There are two main approaches to scaling up health interventions: vertical and horizontal.4 Scaling up using a *vertical approach* involves the introduction of an intervention simultaneously across a whole system and results in institutionalisation of a change through policy, regulation, financing or health systems change. This type of approach is usually managed by a central agency (for example, national, state or regional government) rather than using a decentralised approach. The advantages of vertical approaches are that compliance is generally mandatory and such efforts are often accompanied by commitment from government and resources to support implementation. This means that implementation can occur fairly rapidly and can cover a large area quickly. However, this approach may limit opportunities to adapt intervention delivery to the local context or respond to local issues during implementation. There may also be limited opportunities to change or reverse the intervention overall if it is not working.

Scaling up using a *horizontal approach* involves the introduction of an intervention across different sites or groups in a phased manner, often beginning with a pilot program, followed by stepwise expansion, learning lessons along the way to help refine further expansion. This type of scaling up is sometimes referred to as expansion or replication. The horizontal approach is particularly useful when there is some uncertainty about the scalability of an intervention, or when resources are more limited. However, the success of the approach is dependent on the ability of those delivering the intervention to undertake and implement the necessary internal changes for scaling up, as well as obtain and sustain sufficient financial resources. These skills and resources are not always available at the local level.

These approaches are not mutually exclusive and often a combination of approaches is used to scale up interventions. Strategic choices about how scaling up is organised and how resources are mobilised need to be made that best suit the intervention and the agencies involved in scaling it up.

Key questions:

■ Have the relative merits of one step vertical scaling up and stepwise horizontal scaling up been assessed, and an approach that is efficient and appropriate for the intervention been selected?

Examples of successful 'vertically scaled up' interventions include the introduction of mandatory seat belt legislation, ²⁵ smoking bans in outdoor eating areas, ²⁶ and the introduction of new health system financing models.²⁷

Examples of successful 'horizontally scaled up' interventions include the step wise expansion of the effective falls prevention in older people intervention, Stepping On,²⁸ in Local Health Districts across New South Wales,²⁹ and the expansion of lifestyle based diabetes prevention programs in community settings in the United States using a YMCA implementation model.³⁰

2.6 Consider options for evaluation and monitoring

It is important that an appropriate *evaluative framework* is built into scaling up from the outset.⁷ Formative evaluation prior to scale up will be required to test the appropriateness and acceptability of the intervention with the target audience and other stakeholders (see Step 3.1). Subsequent evaluation and monitoring efforts during scaling up should focus on the:

- process of scaling up the intervention and whether this is progressing as intended;
- effectiveness of the intervention and whether this is being maintained over time;
- reach or adoption rates of the intervention to determine if the intervention is having the intended population wide impact and factors influencing reach and adoption;
- ongoing acceptability of the intervention to individuals and stakeholders;
- ongoing compatibility with other interventions and the broader context;
- cost of the intervention over time, including an assessment of marginal costs and cost effectiveness.

The emphasis placed on measuring each of these aspects during scaling up will depend on what is already known about the intervention (gaps in evidence identified in Step 1) and the approach to scaling up the intervention that has been selected. For example, if a horizontal approach is chosen there may be greater focus on the practicalities of implementation as well as the acceptability and effectiveness of the intervention as it is scaled up more widely. For vertical approaches the emphasis may be on measuring the processes and factors that lead to widespread reach and adoption across the target population or setting

Options for how best to collect the necessary information should be considered, for example whether it is possible to incorporate data collection into routine intervention delivery or whether special studies to evaluate outcomes and impact will be needed. In addition, who could be involved in evaluation and monitoring efforts should be considered, including opportunities to involve independent third parties (for example, research institutions).

An example of such an evaluation framework is that developed to evaluate the New South Wales Get Healthy Information and Coaching Service (GHS). It details the data collection, measures, and statistical analysis required in assessing the process of implementation, reach and recruitment, marketing and promotion, service satisfaction, intervention fidelity, setting up and operations costs and in assessing the impact of the GHS on increasing physical activity, improving dietary practices, and reducing body weight and waist circumference.²⁴

Key questions:

■ Have options for evaluating and monitoring the process, outcomes and impacts of moving to scale been considered and described?

2.7 Estimate resources required for scale up

It is necessary to estimate the human (for example, workforce requirements), technical (for example, materials, technologies, infrastructure, systems) and financial resources that will be needed to scale up the intervention in order to provide as much information as possible to decision makers about the potential cost of scaling up the intervention and to determine whether it is likely the intervention can be implemented within the budget that may be available.

Key questions:

- Have the human and technical resources needed to scale up the intervention been estimated?
- Have the financial resources required for going to scale and operating at scale been estimated?

2.8 Write up the plan

The scaling up plan should summarise the thinking and analysis that took place during Steps 2.1–2.7. It should present a clear and concise case for scaling up the intervention as well as an overview of how this will be brought about. Ultimately the plan should create a vision of what scaling up will look like if successfully completed. Audiences for the plan can be both internal (for example, decision makers within the originating organisation) and external (potential delivery organisations, champions and other stakeholders). The plan should be written with this in mind. In some cases more than one version of the plan may be necessary.

Key questions:

■ Has a plan that creates a vision of what scaling up will look like and a compelling case for action been developed?

STEP 3. PREPARE FOR SCALING UP

The aim of Step 3 is to secure resources needed for going to scale and operating at scale and to build a foundation of legitimacy and support that can help sustain the scaling up effort.

3.1 Consult with stakeholders

It is important that the appropriateness and acceptability of the scaling up plan to key stakeholders (including target groups for the intervention) is assessed before scaling up begins. Measuring appropriateness and acceptability will identify problems with the scaling up plan and identify potential barriers and enablers to scaling up the intervention, and is central to the design of effective advocacy and communication strategies. Often scaling up plans must be adapted to meet concerns raised by stakeholders through a process of negotiation.¹⁶

Key questions:

- Is the scaling up plan acceptable to target groups and stakeholders? Has the plan been revised to better reflect stakeholders' perspectives?
- Do potential partners think the proposed plan is appropriate and workable?

3.2 Legitimise change

Legitimising change begins with gaining the support of decision makers. They must be convinced that scaling up the intervention is a credible and superior solution to a pressing problem for a population. It is vital to repeatedly demonstrate that the proposed intervention is effective and the plan for scaling up is both feasible and cost-effective. The plan developed during Step 2 is important for this purpose. *Potential advocacy strategies* include: policy briefs, engaging the support of opinion leaders and champions to act as spokespersons for scaling up the intervention, input into policy and budgetary processes, and establishing 'commissions' and advisory boards made up of key influencers. The need for change will be legitimised further once decision makers come to believe and assert publicly that change is necessary,^{7,16}

The scaling up of breast feeding promotion and support programs in sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America, and Asia (Central, Pacific Rim, South, and Southeast) provides an example of how successful scaling up efforts have built on evidence informed advocacy that has led to impressive social mobilisation, political will, and eventually to hospital and community based breast feeding promotion policies and legislation (for example, WHO International Code of Marketing Breastmilk Substitutes, maternity leave legislation, breast feeding friendly work environments).²¹

- Which 'champions' are most likely to be effective in promoting scaling up of the intervention to decision makers?
- What are the best ways to promote the merits of scaling up the intervention to decision makers, funders and opinion leaders?
- What arguments, communication strategies, or advocacy strategies are likely to be persuasive to potential champions and decision makers?

3.3 Build a broad constituency

Constituency building complements and amplifies efforts to build legitimacy by going beyond engaging leaders and champions to mobilising the broader 'community of practice' required to successfully scale up an intervention. The aim here is to move from passive acceptance of the need for change to committed action in favour of scaling up the intervention. This can be a challenging process because it can be difficult to change the status quo.^{4,7,16} Opposition generally comes from those who perceive they may be impacted adversely by scaling up an intervention due to a reallocation of resources.¹⁶ To overcome this resistance, stakeholders must believe the change is legitimate, imperative, and the best solution to the problem, even if it requires the realignment of existing services and priorities. This can be done by organising stakeholder dialogues, working through peak bodies, non-government organisations, or social institutions and mobilising grass roots campaigns. Tailored stakeholder engagement, social marketing, and public relations campaigns targeting these audiences, can also be used to build support for change, as can the use of champions to add weight to these efforts.

- How can buy-in from all key internal and external stakeholder groups be achieved?
- Which 'champions' are most likely to be effective in promoting the intervention to the community of practice?
- Which networks and alliances are likely to be the most effective advocates and how can they be
- What other engagement and communication strategies are necessary to get potential partners and implementers to support scaling up?

3.4 Realign and mobilise resources

Funding for scaling up and for operating at scale is rarely in place at the start of scaling up efforts. These funds need to be mobilised through existing channels or through new funding streams. 16 In addition, the resource problem is not simply financial.^{7,16} Often the organisations charged with implementing change lack the needed organisational skills and systems to successfully scale up an intervention. Therefore mechanisms to improve skills and develop systems to support implementation need to be developed. There is also a need to consider *lateral responses*, for example alternative workforces, to overcome human resource capacity constraints and high workforce costs. As noted in Step 2.4, a single organisation that has all the necessary capabilities for scaling up an intervention may not exist, so partnerships between organisations with complementary resources and strengths can be a synergistic way to provide the resources needed for the scaling up process.7,14,16

Key questions:

- Have the skills, competencies and workforce required for scaling up been identified?
- Have competency sets and training systems been developed?
- Has the organisational infrastructure required for scaling up been assessed?
- Have the required information systems and performance monitoring systems been developed?
- Have the necessary partnerships been formed or strengthened?
- Have implementation protocols and resources been developed?
- Have the necessary new technologies, dissemination mechanisms or materials been developed and tested?
- Have potential funding sources been identified and funding secured?

For example, many falls prevention exercise interventions originally designed in randomised controlled trials, to be delivered by allied health professionals, 31,32 have subsequently been successfully delivered by alternate workforces meeting appropriate competency standards at substantially reduced costs.

STEP 4. SCALE UP THE INTERVENTION

Scaling up involves putting the plan developed in Step 2 into place. In practice, implementation involves an ongoing process of detailed planning and organising, making adjustments, and contingency planning.

4.1 Modify and strengthen organisations

Building on the planning and priming actions described in Steps 2 and 3, there may be a need to further develop the capacity of participating organisations to undertake newly assigned roles. Most organisations will need to undergo changes in order to effectively participate in scaling up an intervention. 16 For example, the originating organisation may hand over responsibility for delivery of the intervention to others or expand itself to accommodate delivery. Existing organisations that will deliver the intervention need to determine what actions are required and how to accommodate these alongside their existing responsibilities. Newly formed delivery organisations have to develop entirely new systems and structures. In instances where more than one organisation is involved, these actions need to be coordinated and information and resources shared across organisations. This organisational change can be supported through processes such as staff retraining, mentoring, leadership development and coaching.16

To facilitate uptake of the intervention within the delivery organisation(s) it is essential to set up effective systems so knowledge about the intervention and how it should be delivered can be transferred between organisations (for example, developing manuals and training of trainers). This transfer of knowledge may be affected by the culture, values and norms of the adopting organisation(s) so where possible the delivery approach should be changed or modified so it aligns with these values and norms.¹⁶

Key questions:

- What changes need to be made in the 'delivery organisation(s)'?
- What actions are needed to transfer the requisite knowledge, skills and systems to delivery organisation(s) and to align these with their prevailing attitudes and values?
- Which organisations will be responsible for this transfer process and what changes do they need to make to their own capacity structure, staffing or operations to effect change successfully?

4.2 Coordinate action and governance

Building on the network of organisations engaged in the scaling up process, concrete and detailed agreements about how, when, where, and by whom resources are to be utilised must be established. A,14-16 Programs need to be designed or redesigned, action plans need to be negotiated, and people and technical resources need to be deployed. This often requires managing across organisational boundaries so transparent and clear governance structures should be put in place to allocate roles and responsibilities. In addition, these structures should be used to overcome resistance to change and resolve any disputes that arise. The establishment of networks and coalitions to support those responsible for delivering the intervention is another mechanism that can be used to coordinate action.

- Are action plans and budgets in place for implementing the scaling up effort?
- Have responsibilities been clearly allocated and efficient mechanisms established for coordinating the scaling up effort?
- Have governance structures for overseeing the implementation of the scaling up effort been put in place?
- Have responsibilities for monitoring these efforts and resolving any conflicts been allocated?

4.3 Monitor performance, quality and efficiency

It is important to track the implementation of the intervention and make adjustments if it is not producing the intended results.^{4,7,16} As described in Step 2.6, monitoring systems should have an ongoing focus on measuring effectiveness, reach, fidelity, fit within the context, acceptability and costs, with a particular focus on the efficiency of the delivery of an intervention.⁷

Such monitoring systems should be established early in the scaling up process and must be credible and transparent. Even if an intervention is initially successful it does not mean that it will continue to be so. The quality with which interventions are implemented during scaling up can decrease over time and this can substantially reduce the desired outcomes and impacts. In addition, interventions must adapt to changing circumstances over time to continue to be effective, hence continued monitoring is vital. Also of critical importance is that performance monitoring systems include processes for quality improvement and providing information back to key influencers, decision makers, key stakeholders and the public.^{4,7,16}

- Are the costs of intervention delivery and monitoring being assessed?
- Are the marginal costs of delivering the intervention being assessed to determine if there are economies of scale or diseconomies of scale?
- Are systems in place to collect individual and stakeholder feedback on an ongoing basis?
- Are systems in place to monitor the ongoing acceptability and compatibility of the intervention with similar interventions in the broader context?
- Are systems in place to identify the extent to which the intervention is consistent with implementation protocols?
- Is the effectiveness of the intervention being reviewed periodically?
- Are measures in place to monitor the elements of the intervention essential to maintain the effectiveness of the intervention at scale?
- Has a cost effectiveness analysis been completed?
- Are there adequate procedures for documenting the progress, lessons learned and impact of the scaling up effort?
- Have effective mechanisms for ensuring this information is used for quality improvement and fed back to governance structures, key stakeholders and to the broader public been established? Is this information being used to make necessary course corrections?

Conclusion

4.4 Ensure sustainability

The ultimate aim of most scaling up processes is a sustained change in policy and practice. Most commonly this is achieved through implementing organisational changes to institutionalise an intervention so it becomes part of routine practice. This can be difficult to achieve using horizontal scaling up processes alone. Expansion and replication ultimately need to be supported by vertical approaches such as policy support and wide-scale realignment of budgets and resources.

Once the scaling up process has been fully implemented, efforts must turn not only to greater efficiency in program delivery, but also to maintaining stakeholder engagement and political support for the policy or practice change. Just because something has historically been funded and has enjoyed political support does not mean this will continue. Interventions must adapt to changing circumstances over time to continue to be relevant to stakeholders and intended target groups. Hence, continually adapting an intervention to the current context and building the case for ongoing investment are vital.

Key questions:

- Have strategies to ensure the intervention will be sustainable been identified and implemented?
- Is the data being collected through monitoring being used to support the case for continued or expanded funding?

The scaling up plan developed and implemented through this four-step process should not be considered static. It will and should change as soon as scaling up is underway and activities should be adapted to fit the needs of the local situation or changing circumstances. Scaling up is a learning process, and changing the scaling up plan as learning proceeds is constructive and necessary. Despite the unpredictability of scaling up processes, a good plan can guide the scaling up process in the right direction and make success more likely. Moreover, learning requires systematic use of evidence. This is why it is essential that data from monitoring is linked to decision-making throughout the scaling up process. This guide argues that plans for scaling up need to consider a broad range of factors and balance what is desirable with what is feasible. Such strategic thinking must continue as the process moves from planning, to implementation, to sustainability.

References

- Shen J, Yang H, Cao H, Warfield C. The Fidelity–Adaptation Relationship in Non-Evidence-Based Programs and its Implication for Program Evaluation. *Evaluation* 2008; 14(4): 467–481.
- Glasgow RE, Vogt TM, Boles SM. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. Am J Public Health 1999; 89(9): 1322–1327.
- King L, Hawe P, Wise M. Making dissemination a two-way process. Health Promotion Int 2013; 13(3): 237–244.
- World Health Organization and ExpandNet. Nine steps for developing a scaling-up strategy. Geneva: WHO, 2010.
- Weinstein MC and Stason WB. Foundations of costeffectiveness analysis for health and medical practices. New Engl J Med 1977; 296(13): 716–721.
- Vos T, Carter R, Barendregt J, Mihalopoulos C, Veerman L, Magnus A et al. Assessing Cost-Effectiveness in Prevention (ACE-Prevention) Final Report. Brisbane and Melbourne: University of Queensland and Deakin University, 2010.
- Milat AJ, King L, Bauman AE, Redman S. The concept of scalability: increasing the scale and potential adoption of health promotion interventions into policy and practice. *Health Promot Int* 2013; 28(3): 285–298.
- Mowbray CT, Holter MC, Teague GB, Bybee D. Fidelity Criteria: Development, Measurement, and Validation. Am J Eval 2003; 24(3): 315–340.
- Bishai D, McQuestion M, Chaudhry R, Wigton A. The costs of scaling up vaccination in the world's poorest countries. *Health* Aff 2006; 25(2): 348–356.
- Kumaranayake L. The economics of scaling up: cost estimation for HIV–AIDS interventions. AIDS 2008; 22(S1): S23–33.
- 11. Katz ML and Rosen HS. *Microeconomics* (Third Edition). Boston: Irwin McGraw-Hill. 1998.
- Rychetnik L, Frommer M, Hawe P, Shiell A. Criteria for evaluating evidence on public health interventions. J Epidemiol Community Health 2002; 56(2): 119–127.
- 13. Milat AK, Newson R, Wolfenden L, Rissel C, Bauman A, Redman S. Increasing the scale and adoption of population health intervention: experiences and perspectives of policy makers, practitioners and researchers. *Health Res Policy Syst* 2014; 12(18): doi: 10.1186/1478-4505-12-18.
- **14.** Norton WE and Mittman BS. Scaling-up Health Promotion— Disease Prevention Programs in Community Settings: Barriers, Facilitators, and Initial Recommendations. Report submitted to Patrick and Catherine Weldon Donaghue Medical Research Foundation, 2010. (Available at www.donaghue.org)
- **15.** Yamey G. Scaling up global health interventions: a proposed framework for success. *PLoS Med* 2011; 8(6): doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001049.
- **16.** Kohl R and Cooley L. *Scaling Up-a conceptual and operational framework*. Washington, DC: Management Systems International, 2003.
- Sanson-Fisher RW, Bonevski B, Green LW, D'Este C. Limitations of the randomized controlled trial in evaluating populationbased health interventions. Am J Prev Med 2007; 33(2): 155–161.
- Gillies CL, Abrams KR, Lambert PC, Cooper NJ, Sutton AJ, Hsu RT, et al. Pharmacological and lifestyle interventions to prevent

- or delay type 2 diabetes in people with impaired glucose tolerance: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2007; 334(7588): 299.
- Absetz P, Oldenburg B, Hankonen N, Valve R, Heinonen H, Nissinen A, et al. Type 2 Diabetes Prevention in the "Real World" One-year results of the GOAL Implementation Trial. *Diabetes Care* 2007; 30(10): 2465–2470.
- 20. Laatikainen T, Dunbar JA, Chapman A, Kilkkinen A, Vartiainen E, Heistaro S, et al. Prevention of type 2 diabetes by lifestyle intervention in an Australian primary health care setting: Greater Green Triangle (GGT) Diabetes Prevention Project. BMC Public Health 2007; 7(1): 249.
- Perez-Escamilla R, Curry L, Minhas D, Taylor L, Bradley E. Scaling up of breastfeeding promotion programs in low-and middle-income countries: the "breastfeeding gear" model. Adv Nutr 2012; 3(6): 790–800.
- 22. Pearson BL and Ljungqvist B. REACH: An effective catalyst for scaling up priority nutrition interventions at the country level. *Food Nutr Bull* 2011; 32(S2): 115S–127S.
- 23. Bhandari NA, Kabir A, Salam MA. Mainstreaming nutrition into maternal and child health programmes: scaling up of exclusive breastfeeding. *Matern Child Nutr* 2008; 4(s1): 5–23.
- 24. O'Hara BJ, Bauman AE, Eakin EG, King L, Haas M, Allman-Farinelli M, et al. Evaluation Framework for Translational Research Case Study of Australia's Get Healthy Information and Coaching Service. Health Promot Pract 2013; 14(3): 380–389.
- **25.** Wagenaar AC, Maybee RC, Sullivan KP. Mandatory seat belt laws in eight states: A time-series evaluation. *J Safety Res* 1988; 19(2): 51–70.
- **26.** Brennan E, Cameron M, Warne C, Durkin S, Borland R, Travers MJ, et al. Secondhand smoke drift: examining the influence of indoor smoking bans on indoor and outdoor air quality at pubs and bars. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2010; 12(3): 271–277.
- **27.** Eagar KM. What is activity-based funding? ABF Information Series No.1. *HIM Interchange* 2011; 1(1): 22–23.
- 28. Clemson L, Cumming RG, Kendig H, Swann M, Heard R, Taylor K, et al. The effectiveness of a community-based program for reducing the incidence of falls in the elderly: a randomized trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004; 52(9): 1487–1494.
- 29. Milat AJ, Smith J, Bauman A, Redman S, Goodger B. The strategic development of the NSW Health Plan for Prevention of Falls and Harm from Falls Among Older People: 2011–2015; translating research into policy and practice. N S W Public Health Bull 2011; 22(3–4): 73–77.
- **30.** Ackermann RT and Marrero DG. Adapting the Diabetes Prevention Program Lifestyle Intervention for Delivery in the Community The YMCA Model. *Diabetes Educ* 2007; 33(1): 69–78.
- Campbell AJ, Robertson MC, Gardner MM, Norton RN, Tilyard MW, Buchner DM. Randomised controlled trial of a general practice programme of home based exercise to prevent falls in elderly women. *BMJ* 1997; 315(7115): 1065–1069.
- **32.** Robertson MC, Gardner MM, Devlin N, McGee R, Campbell AJ. Effectiveness and economic evaluation of a nurse delivered home exercise programme to prevent falls. 2: Controlled trial in multiple centres. *BMJ* 2001; 322(7288): 701–704.



